#### Case No. S160211

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

#### VOICES OF THE WETLANDS,

0200

Petitioner,

v.

CALIFORNIA STATE WATER RESOURCES CONTROL BOARD; CALIFORNIA REGIONAL WATER QUALITY CONTROL BOARD – CENTRAL COAST REGION; DUKE ENERGY MOSS LANDING LLC; and DUKE ENERGY NORTH AMERICA, LLC,

Respondents.

Appeal from the Superior Court of California, County of Monterey
Case No. M54889
The Honorable Robert A. O'Farrell, Judge

On Review from the Court of Appeal of the State of California Sixth Appellate District Case No. H028021

#### **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

Deborah A. Sivas (Cal. Bar No. 135446)
Robb W. Kapla (Cal. Bar No. 238896)

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- 1. May a trial court, after conducting a full trial on the merits under California Code of Civil Procedure section 1094.5 and finding that an agency's decision was not supported by the weight of the evidence, (a) decline to enter judgment or issue a writ of mandate setting aside the unlawful decision and then (b) admit newly produced evidence that was not before the agency at the time of the original decision for the purpose of upholding the original decision?
- 2. May the state permitting agency charged by the federal government with implementing the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1251 et seq., deviate from controlling federal law by (a) considering after-the-fact environmental enhancement activities as part of its compliance determination under the statute's technology-forcing requirements and (b) allowing a discretionary and factually unsupported cost-benefit exception to the statute's "best technology available" requirement?

#### INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Moss Landing Power Plant at issue in this case sits at the mouth of Elkhorn Slough, from which it withdraws up to 1.224 billion gallons of cooling water each day. Twenty-eight percent of the Slough's total water volume circulates through the plant on a continuous basis. All living

organisms entrained in the facility's cooling system – billions of fish and invertebrate larvae and other plankton that form the base of the food web – are killed before the heated water is ultimately discharged into Monterey Bay. This "once-through cooling" system diminishes the biological productivity of the Slough by up to 40 percent. Regulators have deemed the plant's ecological impacts to be "significant," in part because Elkhorn Slough is one of California's last remaining coastal estuaries and serves as the primary nursery for the Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary.

To avoid such adverse impacts, many power plants throughout the nation employ alternative cooling technologies that drastically reduce or entirely eliminate the need for cooling water. Consistent with this industry practice, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency has determined that, barring unusual circumstances, the once-through cooling technology utilized by the Moss Landing plant is not the "best technology available to minimize adverse environmental impact," as required by section 316(b) of the federal Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1326(b).

In 2000, the Moss Landing plant sought permission to construct two new, state-of-the-art gas turbine generating units designed with the same once-through cooling technology it had employed at the site for decades.

The state agency charged with implementing the Clean Water Act in California approved a permit for the new units without meaningful

consideration of alternative cooling technologies. Pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure section 1094.5, Petitioner Voices of the Wetlands challenged the agency's determination that a once-through cooling system constitutes the best technology available for the Moss Landing facility. Following a bench trial on the merits, the superior court agreed with Petitioner, finding that Respondents prejudicially abused their discretion because the best technology determination was "not supported by the weight of evidence" before the agency at the time of the permit decision. Inexplicably, however, the trial court refused to enter the remedy requested by Petitioner and required by law – namely, a writ of mandate setting aside the unlawful agency determination. Instead, the court merely remanded the matter to the agency without entering judgment or vacating any part of the agency approval.

This legal error set in motion a cascade of events that ultimately undermined Petitioner's ability to obtain a full and fair hearing of its statutory arguments. On remand, the agency declined to reopen the "best technology available" determination previously found by the trial court to be unsupported by the record. Instead, it selectively accepted new evidence and new arguments – not including Petitioner's submission – and concluded that it need not revisit its prior permit decision. Respondents then returned to the trial court with over 6,000 pages of new evidence that was not before

the agency at the time of the initial permit decision. Relying on the information and testimony elicited during the agency remand, the trial court reversed its prior ruling and held that the <u>original</u> permit decision issued in 2000 was adequately supported by the weight of the <u>post-decisional</u> evidence produced in 2003. Departing dramatically from existing precedent and bedrock principles of administrative law, the appellate court affirmed the trial court process.

In its final judgment for Respondents, the trial court summarily dismissed Petitioner's separate substantive legal claims that the agency's best technology determination in this case violated section 316(b) of the Clean Water Act. Most significant, the court rejected Petitioner's argument that the agency unlawfully considered the applicant's "environmental enhancement" funding in determining the best available cooling water technology for the Moss Landing plant. The trial court's holding, which was affirmed on appeal, squarely contravenes applicable federal court precedent on an important question of federal law, putting California at odds with the rest of the nation. The lower courts also upheld Respondents' use of an arbitrary cost-benefit analysis to evaluate compliance with section 316(b). While economic considerations may inform the "best technology available" determination, permit-writing agencies must both articulate a discernable standard for assessing costs and support their conclusions with

facts in the record. In this case, Respondents did neither.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### I. LEGAL BACKGROUND

Congress enacted the Clean Water Act in 1972 to "restore and maintain the chemical, physical, and biological integrity of the Nation's waters." 33 U.S.C. § 1251(a). Administered by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA"), the statute established the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System ("NPDES") permitting program to regulate the discharge of any "pollutant" from any "point source" into U.S. waters.<sup>1</sup> 33 U.S.C. § 1311; Weinberger v. Romero-Barcelo, 456 U.S. 305, 319 (1982). The Clean Water Act is a model of cooperative federalism, establishing minimum federal standards of environmental protection and allowing states that qualify for enforcement delegation to set more stringent standards for local water bodies, if they choose. Like most other states, California administers the NPDES program within its borders; in particular, EPA has authorized the State Water Resources Control Board ("State Board") and the nine Regional Water Quality Control Boards ("Regional Board") to implement the NPDES permit program. Cal. Water Code § 13377; 39 Fed. Reg. 26,061 (July 16, 1974); 54 Fed. Reg. 40,664 (Oct. 31,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The term "pollutant" includes heated water. 33 U.S.C. § 1362(6). A "point source" is defined as "any discernible, confined and discrete conveyance." <u>Id.</u> at § 1362(14). Thus, the discharge of heated water from a power plant cooling system requires an NPDES permit.

1989). The NPDES permits issued by the Regional Boards must comply with all minimum federal requirements of the Clean Water Act. 33 U.S.C. § 1342(b); 40 C.F.R. §§ 123.22-.25; Cal. Water Code §§ 13372, 13377.

At issue here is section 316(b) of the Clean Water Act, which mandates that NPDES permits for power plants "shall require that the location, design, construction, and capacity of cooling water intake structures reflect the best technology available for minimizing adverse environmental impact." 33 U.S.C. § 1326(b).<sup>2</sup> After EPA's first attempt to promulgate section 316(b) implementing regulations failed, the agency issued "Draft Guidance for Evaluating the Adverse Impact of Cooling Water Intake Structures on the Aquatic Environment" in 1977 ("Draft Guidance"). This guidance, which directs permit-writing agencies to evaluate section 316(b) compliance on a case-by-case basis, concludes that "[a]n open system large volume intake in an area of high biological value does not represent best technology available to minimize adverse environmental impact and will generally result in disapproval."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> EPA considers "adverse environmental impact" to be "a level of impingement or entrainment of aquatic organisms that is recurring and nontrivial." 65 Fed. Reg. 49,060, 49,074 (Aug. 10, 2000).

The original regulations published at 41 Fed. Reg. 17,387 (Apr. 26, 1976) were held procedurally defective in <u>Appalachian Power Co. v. U.S.</u> Environmental Protection Agency, 566 F.2d 451 (4th Cir. 1977), and EPA subsequently withdrew them. 44 Fed. Reg. 32,956 (June 6, 1979). The Draft Guidance governed section 316(b) determinations until replacement rules were developed. 65 Fed. Reg. at 49,063.

RAR:002423.<sup>4</sup> Exceptions to the general rule require site-specific assessment demonstrating that "involvement of the biota is low or survival of those involved is high, and subsequent reduction of the populations is minimal." Id. Where structural alterations (e.g., fish screens, water velocity reduction, and intake location changes) "would not minimize adverse impact, consideration should be given to reduction of intake capacity which may necessitate installation of a closed cycle cooling system." RAR:002424; see also 41 Fed. Reg. at 17,388.

In August 2000, EPA proposed to replace this case-by-case approach with national performance standards for new facilities that require environmental protection commensurate with that attainable through use of a closed-cycle cooling system – a reduction in water intake of roughly 95 percent. 65 Fed. Reg. at 49,077. Afer exhaustive study, EPA identified a strong industry trend toward installation of closed-cycle recirculation technology, <u>id.</u> at 49,072, and determined that the proposed performance standard was "economically practicable." <u>Id.</u> at 49,087. The rulemaking

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The administrative record in this case was submitted to the trial court in three separate parts. This brief uses the following nomenclature: (1) "AR:" and "State Board AR:", respectively, for correspondingly numbered pages in the original Regional Board and State Board record lodged in the trial court on January 25, 2003; (2) "RAR:" for correspondingly numbered pages in the record of the remand proceedings lodged in the trial on October 14, 2003; and (3) "SAR:" for correspondingly numbered pages in the supplemental remand record certified on January 26, 2004. Trial court documents not contained in one of the administrative records are included in Petitioner's Appendix ("App:").

notice emphasized the importance of protecting the "abundance and diversity of aquatic life within" coastal estuaries like Elkhorn Slough. <u>Id.</u>

The final so-called "Phase I" rule established a national performance standard that requires new facilities to "reduce . . . intake flow, at a minimum, to a level commensurate with that which can be attained by a closed-cycle recirculating cooling water system." 40 C.F.R. § 125.84(b). In adopting it, EPA explained that "a closed-cycle recirculating cooling system is a commonly practiced technology" and "industry standard." 66 Fed. Reg. 65,625, 65,278, 65,283 (Dec. 18, 2001).

The Phase I rule was challenged and largely upheld by the United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit in Riverkeeper, Inc. v. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency ("Riverkeeper I"), 358 F.3d 174 (2d Cir. 2004). That decision addressed two issues of relevance here. First, the Second Circuit rejected EPA's adoption of an alternative compliance method to meet the performance standard using after-the-fact restoration measures, such as fish restocking or habitat improvements, to offset fish and wildlife impacts. The court explained that restoration measures only correct for impacts; they do not minimize impacts in the first place, as required by the plain text of section 316(b). Id. at 189. Second, the court upheld the inclusion of a variance provision in the Phase I rule expressly because it "does not leave alternative requirements to the Agency's

'unfettered' discretion." Id. at 194.

In 2004, EPA finalized a similar "Phase II" rule for existing facilities. Like the Phase I rule, the Phase II rule established a performancebased compliance standard that can be achieved through a reduction in intake water "commensurate with a closed-cycle recirculating system" or one of four compliance alternatives. 40 C.F.R. § 125.94(a). This rule also was challenged and reviewed by the same Second Circuit panel. Riverkeeper, Inc. v. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency ("Riverkeeper II"), 475 F.3d 83 (2d Cir. 2007), rev'd sub nom on limited grounds, Entergy Corp. v. Riverkeeper, Inc., 129 S. Ct. 1498, 1510 (2009). In the portion of its Riverkeeper II decision that was not accepted for certiorari by the U.S. Supreme Court, the Second Circuit strongly reiterated its prior holding in Riverkeeper I that "[r]estoration measures are not part of the location, design, construction, or capacity of cooling water intake structures . . . Accordingly, the EPA impermissibly construed the statute by allowing compliance with section 316(b) via restoration measures." 475 F.3d at 110.

#### II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

#### A. The Elkhorn Slough Coastal Estuary

The Elkhorn Slough coastal estuary at the center of this case "adjoins the much larger Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary near Moss

Landing Harbor about midway between the cities of Santa Cruz and

Monterey." AR:304234. It is one of the last large coastal wetlands remaining in California and of vital importance to the larger Monterey Bay coastal ecosystem. AR:300863, 303666, 304239. Because California has lost more than 75 percent of its coastal marshes to human development, the Slough represents a "particularly valuable" resource. AR:300871.

Considered an "ecological gem," Elkhorn Slough is "an estuary of great habitat diversity and species richness." AR:300863, 300871. It provides habitat for hundreds of resident and migratory bird species and supports a "great diversity of rare plants and animals." AR:300863, 304239. Along the shores of the marsh are two heron rookeries, a small breeding population of snowy plovers, and nesting pairs of golden eagles, white-tailed kites and many other species of raptors. Altogether, 400 species of invertebrates, 260 species of birds, and 80 species of fish have been identified in the Slough, including commercially important dungeness crab and endangered tidewater goby. Elkhorn Slough is home to significant numbers of marine mammals, including harbor seals, southern sea otters and sea lions. It also serves as an important nursery and source of nutrients for Monterey Bay and functions as a filter for sediment and pollution runoff

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The main channel of the Slough winds inland seven miles and is flanked by a broad salt marsh second in size only to the San Francisco Bay marsh, with the Slough as a whole draining a watershed of approximately 43,000 acres. AR:303666, 304238. Today, the wetlands of Elkhorn Slough cover approximately 3,000 acres, a mere ten percent of their size in the 1880's. AR:304238.

from surrounding upland uses. These functions are especially significant because the Slough opens into one of the deepest and most productive oceanic resources along the California coast, the Monterey Submarine Canyon. See generally AR:300863, 300871, 303666-67, 304239.

The significance of Elkhorn Slough has been widely recognized. The State of California designated the Slough as an ecological preserve. The National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration included Elkhorn Slough's tidal waters as part of the Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary and established a National Estuarine Research Reserve on its shores, the only one in California north of San Diego. The American Bird Conservancy designated the Slough as a "Globally Important Bird Area" because it harbors significant breeding and wintering populations of the threatened western snowy plover, as well as a host of other migrant and wintering shorebirds, including the endangered brown pelican. And the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service designated Elkhorn Slough as "critical habitat" for the western snowy plover pursuant to the Endangered Species Act. AR:303666-67, 304239-40. As the California Energy Commission concluded, "Elkhorn Slough is considered a significant biological resource," AR:304240, that "supports one of California's most threatened ecosystems, the coastal estuary." AR:304239.

## B. The Moss Landing Expansion

The Moss Landing Power Plant first commenced operations in 1950, when it consisted of five operating units that Pacific Gas & Electric ultimately decommissioned in 1995. These units utilized once-through cooling water technology that drew intake water from Moss Landing Harbor at the mouth of Elkhorn Slough, ran it through the facility, and discharged it back into the Slough. Two newer units were constructed in 1968 and continue to operate today, producing roughly 1,500 megawatts ("MW") of electricity and using the same once-through cooling water technology. AR:300048. With the dawn of electricity deregulation in California, Duke Energy purchased the Moss Landing facility in 1998 and applied to the California Energy Commission to construct and operate an expansion. AR:303190.

The expansion proposed by Duke included two new, state-of-the-art 530-MW natural gas-fired generating units, with an estimated capital cost of \$475 million. AR:303190-91. Like their 50-year-old predecessors, the new units were designed to utilize once-through cooling technology and to draw water from the Elkhorn estuary. AR:304111. The expanded plant can "suck through its cooling water intake system" up to 1.224 billion gallons of saltwater per day, or roughly 28 percent of the entire water volume of the harbor and slough on a continuous basis for the next several decades.

AR:303669.

## C. The Permitting and Environmental Review Process

Duke began the permitting and environmental review process with an application for expansion to the California Energy Commission in May 1999. That application disclaimed any significant adverse impacts on water or biological resources in Elkhorn Slough, even after a supplemental application clarified that the expansion would increase cooling water intake flow rates from the current level of 532,000 gallons per minute to 878,000 gallons per minute. AR:300299, 300373, 300998. Duke's application did not actually assess alternative cooling water systems. Instead, it offered unsupported assertions that closed-cycle recirculation cooling towers would have potential visual, noise or "nuisance" water deposition impacts and concluded that "the proposed once-through cooling water system is preferred." AR:301058-59. Air cooling – another alternative that uses no intake water at all – was dismissed in the same cursory manner. AR:301059-60.

To comply with the Clean Water Act, Duke also applied to the Regional Board for a new NPDES permit to cover the proposed expansion units and to replace its expiring permit for the existing units. AR:301520-635. The Regional Board processed the NPDES permit application in parallel with the Energy Commission siting process. The Energy

Commission acted as the "lead agency" for environmental evaluation of the project under the California Environmental Quality Act, Cal. Pub. Res.

Code § 21000 *et seq.*, and prepared the environmental review document – called the Final Staff Assessment ("FSA") – for the proposed expansion.

AR:304502-04.

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