In the Supreme Court of the State of California

VOICES OF THE WETLANDS,

No. S160211

Petitioner,

VS

CALIFORNIA WATER RESOURCES
CONTROL BOARD; CALIFORNIA REGIONAL)
WATER QUALITY CONTROL BOARD—
CENTRAL COAST REGION; DUKE ENERGY
MOSS LANDING LLC; and DUKE ENERGY
NORTH AMERICA, LLC,

SUPREME COURT FILED

MAR 5 - 2010

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

Respondents.

After Decision Of The Court of Appeal, Sixth Appellate District, No. H028021

Monterey Superior Court, No. M54889 Honorable Robert A. O'Farrell

DYNEGY'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

Following a hearing on February 5, 2003, the superior court entered its Remand Order on March 11, 2003. Resp. Appx., at 119-120. The Remand Order states:

THIS COURT HAVING DETERMINED that Finding No. 48 of Regional Water Quality Control Board Order No. 00-041 is not supported by the weight of the evidence in the record,

IT IS ORDERED that Order No. 00-041 be, and it hereby is, remanded to the Regional Water Quality Control Board to conduct a thorough and comprehensive analysis with respect to Finding No. 48 ...

Id. Petitioner filed a petition for extraordinary relief with the court of appeal (No. H025844) seeking to set aside the Remand Order. That petition was summarily denied.

701866259v1 - 17 -

II. PROCEEDINGS ON REMAND.

Petitioner seriously mischaracterizes the remand proceedings. The BTA issue was fully reopened and reconsidered, and Petitioner's ability to participate fully was not "constrained" (OB, at 24) by anything other than its own gamesmanship.

A. The Notice of Public Hearing.

In compliance with the Remand Order, the Regional Board issued a Notice of Public Hearing ("Hearing Notice") on March 7, 2003 "to provide an opportunity for all parties to present evidence and analysis regarding the BTA alternatives, their costs and their environmental benefits." RAR, at 000015. The Hearing Notice solicited testimony and evidence addressing the alternatives to once-through cooling:

- a. Which of these alternatives are effective to reduce entrainment?
- b. Are there reasons that any of these alternatives may not be feasible?
- c. What are the costs of these alternatives to once-through cooling?
- d. What are the environmental benefits of each alternative?
- e. Is the cost of these alternatives wholly disproportionate to their environmental benefit?

RAR, at 000016.

The Hearing Notice designated Petitioner, Respondent, the Regional Board, and the Energy Commission as parties to the hearing. RAR, at 000017. The Hearing Notice directed the parties to submit direct

701866259v1 - 18 -

testimony, evidence, and argument to the Regional Board by April 14, 2003, and any rebuttal testimony and argument by April 28, 2003. RAR, at 000018-19.

B. Submissions to the Regional Board in advance of the hearing.

Regional Board staff, Respondent, and the Energy Commission each timely submitted direct evidence and testimony on April 14, 2003. RAR, at 000035-437, 000462-472, 000473-725. Petitioner, however, "respectfully decline[d] to submit any evidence at this time" in light of its pending writ petition in the court of appeal. RAR, at 000726-28.

Two weeks later, on April 28, 2003, Petitioner submitted "preliminary comments" in the form of a 13-page letter. SAR, at 0059-72. The letter restated Petitioner's objections to the taking of evidence on remand and argued that the Regional Board could not consider the costs of BTA alternatives or require mitigation in connection with the issuance of an NPDES permit.

The Regional Board declined to accept Petitioner's April 28 letter. RAR, at 000828-30. Pointing out that "the overwhelming majority of the letter addresses issues that were not raised by the other parties," the Board concluded that it was not properly submitted as rebuttal evidence but was direct evidence (due April 14) and, as such, untimely. RAR, at 000829. In addition, the Board noted that many of the topics addressed in the letter

701866259v1 - 19 -

(such as the legality of considering mitigation) were outside the scope of the Remand Order. RAR, at 000829.

The Regional Board did accept an April 28, 2003 memorandum from Dr. Haddad of U.C. Santa Cruz and two Ph.D. students, on condition that one of the authors appear for cross-examination. RAR, at 000797-808, 823-824. The Regional Board staff noted Dr. Haddad's statement that he had "prepared the memorandum at the request of Ms. Sivas, [Petitioner's] counsel," which was "puzzling because [Petitioner] has asserted the Board may not augment the administrative record." RAR, at 000823-24.

C. The Regional Board hearing and resolution.

The Regional Board's hearing on the remand was conducted, as scheduled, on May 15, 2003. RAR, at 000894. All parties, including Petitioner, had the opportunity to summarize their evidence and argument, to cross-examine witnesses, and to present closing statements. RAR, at 000898-99. The general public also had an opportunity to comment. RAR, at 000899. Petitioner participated in the hearing. In addition to pressing some of its legal arguments, Petitioner cross-examined Regional Board staff and Respondent's witnesses and submitted testimony from Dr. Haddad. RAR, at 000986-1024, 1053-78, 1146-53 and 1167-70.

At the conclusion of the hearing, four of the five Regional Board members who were present voted to approve a resolution finding that:

"After a thorough and comprehensive analysis, Finding No. 48 in Waste

701866259v1 - 20 -

Discharge Requirements Order 00-041 is supported by the weight of the evidence." RAR, at 001203-05; SAR, at 0017.

On June 13, 2003, Petitioner appealed the Regional Board's May 15 action to the State Board. SAR, at 0037-90. On September 16, 2003, the State Board dismissed the appeal because it "fail[ed] to raise substantial issues that are appropriate for review." SAR, at 0001.

III. THE SECOND PETITION.

On October 15, 2003, Petitioner filed a second petition for writ of mandate in the superior court, raising its procedural concerns about the May 15 remand hearing and the alleged insufficiency of the evidence ("Second Petition"). Resp. Appx., at 121-135.

After briefing and oral argument, the superior court issued its

Statement of Decision on July 21, 2004. Pet. Appx., at 75-81. The superior court rejected each of Petitioner's procedural objections to the remand proceedings and confirmed that it had earlier rejected Petitioner's arguments concerning the environmental enhancement project and the Regional Board's consideration of the economic feasibility of alternative technologies. The superior court found that:

[T]he present record of the Board's proceedings, viewed in its entirety, does not show that habitat restoration was offered as a *substitute* for selecting the best technology available. Although the mitigation plan was at times discussed in conjunction with other BTA considerations, the Board's determination does not rest on that plan as the basis for its best technology finding.

701866259v1 - 21 -

Pet. Appx., at 80 (original emphasis).

Judgment denying the First Petition was entered on August 17, 2004. Pet. Appx., at 89-91. Thereafter, the parties entered into a stipulation for dismissal with prejudice of the Second Petition since "the issues raised in the Second Petition have been resolved against Petitioner through the Court's Judgment on the First Petition." Resp. Appx., at 156-158.

IV. APPEAL.

Petitioner appealed from the August 17, 2004 judgment, and Respondent and the Water Boards cross-appealed. Resp. Appx., at 145-154. The cross-appeals raised the issues whether the superior court had jurisdiction to hear the First Petition and whether the Remand Order was correct in concluding that Finding No. 48 lacked evidentiary support.

The Sixth District Court of Appeal issued its opinion on December 14, 2007, and issued an Order Modifying Opinion and Denying Rehearing on January 10, 2008. The court of appeal affirmed the judgment, rejecting both sides' challenges to the trial court's reasoning.

701866259v1 - 22 -

ARGUMENT.

I. THE JUDICIAL REVIEW PROVISION OF THE

WARREN-ALQUIST ACT, PUBLIC RESOURCES CODE

SECTION 25531, BARRED A MANDAMUS PETITION IN

THE SUPERIOR COURT.

In its answer to the petition, Respondent requested that the Court review the threshold question of the superior court's jurisdiction to try this case: "Does the judicial review provision of the Warren-Alquist Act (Public Resources Code Section 25531) deprive the superior court of jurisdiction to hear a petition challenging an NPDES permit when that permit has been approved and incorporated by the California Energy Commission as part of its certification process?" In the September 9, 2009 Order, this Court ordered briefing on that issue.

Public Resources Code Section 25531, provides:

- (a) The decisions of the [Energy] [C]ommission on any application for certification of a site and related facility are subject to judicial review by the Supreme Court of California.
- . . .
- (c) Subject to the right of judicial review of decisions of the [Energy] [C]ommission, no court in this state has jurisdiction to hear or determine any case or controversy concerning any matter which was, or could have been, determined in a proceeding before the [Energy] [C]ommission, or to stop or delay the construction or operation of any thermal powerplant except to enforce compliance with the provisions of a decision of the [Energy] [C]ommission.

Until May 22, 2001, Section 25531(a) provided for judicial review in the same manner as the decisions of the Public Utilities Commission.

Thus, when the Energy Commission certified the MLPP modernization project in November 2000, Petitioner could have sought review of that decision in the court of appeal or in the Supreme Court. See Santa Teresa Citizen Action Group v. State Energy Res. Conserv. & Dev. Comm'n, 105 Cal. App. 4th 1441, 1451 (2003).

Respondent demurred in the trial court on the basis of Section 25531(c), arguing that the statute prevents any court other than the Supreme Court (and formerly the court of appeal) from hearing a petition "concerning any matter which was, or could have been, determined" in Energy Commission proceedings. The trial court overruled the demurrer on the ground that Section 25531 should not be read to negate Section 13330(a) of the Water Code, which provides that any Water Board order is subject to review in the superior court by a petition for writ of mandate. The court of appeal agreed, emphasizing the federal nature of the permit in question. Op., at 25-26. In the court of appeal's view, judicial review under Water Code Section 13330(a) did not do violence to the legislative purpose of the Warren-Alquist Act ("to hasten the 'final operative effect' of Energy Commission decisions") because "[t]his is not a case in which the superior court acted 'to stop or delay the construction or operation of any thermal powerplant." Op., at 28 (quoting Pub. Res. Code.

701866259v1 - 24 -

§ 25531, subd. (c)). However, the threshold question of jurisdiction should not rest on whether the superior court was in fact prudent in its exercise of jurisdiction or on whether it interfered with the operation of the MLPP (as Petitioner urged that it should have). Jurisdiction must be determined at the outset of a proceeding, not after the proceeding is concluded and not based on an evaluation of the superior court's actions.

The authority to issue NPDES permits unquestionably belongs to the Water Boards. But the question posed by Section 25531 is not which agency has the authority to issue an NPDES permit. The question is what court has the authority to review that administrative decision. That question hinges on whether the "case or controversy concern[s] any matter which was, or could have been, determined in a proceeding before the [Energy] [C]ommission...." Here, it was. As discussed above, the Energy Commission worked closely with the Regional Board and expressly considered the BTA issue with Petitioner's participation in the Energy Commission proceedings. AR, at 000011-15, 000204-26, 306738-44. The permit conditions adopted by the Regional Board, in collaboration with the Energy Commission, were approved and incorporated into the Energy Commission's decision certifying the MLPP modernization project. AR, at 304341. In short, Petitioner sought superior court review of issues that not only could have been, but actually were, determined by the Energy Commission.

701866259v1 - 25 -

Statutes relating to the same subject matter must be harmonized with each other, to the extent possible. *Dyna-Med, Inc. v. Fair Employment & Housing Comm'n*, 43 Cal. 3d 1379, 1387 (1987). The statutes here in question can readily be harmonized, giving the greatest possible effect to each, by understanding Water Code Section 13330 as providing the general rule for judicial review of Water Board decisions, and Public Resources Code Section 25531 as providing the exception for those few Water Board decisions concerning a power plant subject to Energy Commission certification. Additionally, to the extent the two statutes are deemed inconsistent, it is the more recently enacted statute, Section 25531 (enacted in 1974), that controls over the earlier enacted one, Section 13330 (enacted in 1969). *See, e.g., California Correctional Peace Officers Ass'n v. Dep't of Corrections*, 72 Cal. App. 4th 1331, 1340 & n.9 (1999).

In construing a statute, the court should consider "the ostensible objects to be achieved, the evils to be remedied, the legislative history, public policy, contemporaneous administrative construction, and the statutory scheme of which the statute is a part." *People v. Woodhead*, 43 Cal. 3d 1002, 1008 (1987). The objective of the Warren-Alquist Act was to prevent delays in the provision of electrical power, while the evil to

701866259v1 - 26 -

Section 25531 was most recently amended by S.B. 28, § 8, effective May 22, 2001, which did not change subdivision (c). See supra, at 24.

be remedied was regulatory fragmentation and uncertainty in the field of electrical generation. *Public Utils. Comm'n v. Energy Res. Conserv. & Devel. Comm'n*, 150 Cal. App. 3d 437, 448-453 (1984). Moreover, if the Legislature had intended only to restrict review of Energy Commission decisions as such to the Supreme Court (or previously to the court of appeal), and had not also intended to prevent collateral attacks on those decisions via judicial review of other agencies' decisions, it would have enacted subdivision (a) only. But the Legislature also enacted subdivision (c), which clearly forbids judicial review of any matter—including the Regional Board's application of Section 316(b)—that was or could have been determined by the Energy Commission.

Petitioner failed to discuss this issue in its opening brief, but its main argument below was that Section 25531 would effectively transfer the federally-delegated authority to issue NPDES permits from the Water Boards to the Energy Commission, in violation of the Clean Water Act.

This is a straw man. There is no dispute that the authority to issue NPDES permits belongs to the Water Boards. But equally, there is no dispute that the permit conditions adopted by the Regional Board in this case, in collaboration with the Energy Commission, were incorporated in the Energy Commission's decision certifying the MLPP modernization project. The question, in these circumstances, is whether *judicial review* was properly sought in the Supreme Court pursuant to Section 25531, or in the

701866259v1 - 27 -

superior court pursuant to Water Code Section 13330. And that question depends on the proper construction of Section 25531 and the purpose of the Warren-Alquist Act. It is not affected, one way or the other, by federal law.

The EPA regulations governing delegation of NPDES permitting authority to the states do not require that judicial review occur in any particular court (*e.g.*, trial court versus appellate court), or that any particular standard of review apply, or that any particular procedure be followed. The EPA regulations require only that the state provide some form of judicial review that allows for "public participation." 40 C.F.R. § 123.30.

As noted above, when the permit was issued Section 25531(a) provided for review "in the same manner" in which decisions of the Public Utilities Commission were reviewed under Public Utilities Code Section 1756, which, in turn, provided that judicial review could be sought by "any aggrieved party." 1998 Cal. Stats. ch. 886, § 10; 2000 Cal. Stats. ch. 953, § 1. This is the same standing requirement that appears in Water Code Section 13330(b), which provides for a writ petition by "[a]ny party aggrieved by a final decision or order" of a Regional Board. Thus, there is no room to argue that Water Code Section 13330 satisfies the federal standard but that Section 25531 does not. Indeed, Section 25531, as it stood when Respondent's permit was issued, arguably was *more*

701866259v1 - 28 -

comparable than Water Code Section 13330 to the federal system, where judicial review is by an appellate court.⁷

If this Court agrees that the superior court lacked jurisdiction under Section 25531(c), the judgment denying the petition can be affirmed on that basis alone. But even if the superior court had jurisdiction, its denial of the petition was correct on the merits, as we demonstrate below.

- II. THE ADMINISTRATIVE RECORD SUPPORTED THE

 CONCLUSION OF THE ENERGY COMMISSION AND

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